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Description and essential historic landscape components 

This small historic landscape character area consists of the remains of enclosed strip fields 

that survive to the north of Neyland and to the north of a large oil refinery, together with 

the village of Waterston and the hamlet of Little Honeyborough. Enclosed strip fields 

(former open fields) characterise the agricultural landscape of this area. These are best 

preserved to the north and east of Neyland and to the north of Waterston. Boundaries are 

earth banks topped with hedges. Hedges are generally in a good condition, but a few are 

derelict and some are becoming overgrown. There are a few trees, but apart from on 

steeper slopes woodland is not a strong characteristic of this area. Land-use is mainly 

improved pasture with a little arable. Wasterston is a nucleated village with mainly 19th 

century, two storey, stone built houses and terraces in the vernacular tradition. Modern 

dwellings are also present. An oil refinery lies immediately against the southern edge of 

the village, and an industrial estate lies to the west. Little Honeyborough is a very small 

settlement comprising 19th century two storey houses in the vernacular tradition, single 

storey 19th century cottages and a chapel. The few farms dispersed across the area and 

within the village and hamlet are relatively small, with 19th century houses, one or two 

ranges of 19th century stone-built outbuildings and a collection of modern outbuildings. 

Archaeological sites are limited and consist of a bronze age standing stone, a bronze age 

burnt mound and some small post-medieval quarries. There are no listed buildings. 

To the west, east and south against an oil refinery and the town of Neyland this area has 

very well defined boundaries. To the north boundary definition is not clear, and there is a 

gradual merging of this area with it neighbour. 

Sources: Jones 1996; Llanstadwell Parish tithe map 1849; Llanstadwell Third Part tithe 

map 1830; NLW PICTON CASTLE VOL 1; NLW MORGAN-RICHARDSON DEPOSIT NO 1; 

Owen 1911; Owen 1918 

 

 

322 SCOVESTON - BURTON  

is predominantly an agricultural historic landscape character area containing several 

mansions, many large farms, a scattering of smaller farms and dispersed modern 

settlement. Burton is the only village. Fields in this area are large and are divided by banks 

and hedges. Woodland is not a major component of the landscape. 

GRID REFERENCE: SM 926082 

AREA IN HECTARES: 2550 

Historic Background 

A large character area lying the north of the Milford Haven waterway, within the 

ecclesiastical parishes of Llangwm, Llanstadwell, Rosemarket and Steynton. Much of the 

area formed part of the medieval Manor of Pill, part of the larger Manor (or Sublordship) 

of Pill and Roch, which was created under the de Roches between 1100 and 1130. Its 

relationship with the Lordship of Haverford, of which it was notionally a member, was 

always a matter of dispute. Pill was a large and important manor with a caput at the head 

of Castle Pill (pill is a local term for a tidal inlet) at the west end of the area – possibly on 

the site of an iron age hillfort and later a Civil War defence. The southeast end of this area 

lies within the parish of Burton, which represented a detached portion of the Lordship of 

Pembroke. Burton parish church was present by 1291. The Manor (and parish) of Llangwm, 

to the north, was a holding of the de Vales until a Roche kinsman, Gilbert de la Roche, 



acquired it in the late 13th century. The Roches granted ‘six bovates of land in Studdolph, 

and five acres of land with half a carucate of land in the same township’ to the Tironian 

Pill Priory in its late 12th century foundation charter. Hayston was present in the 14th 

century. The present settlement pattern appears to be of relatively late origin as only a 

few of today’s farms and landholdings can be identified with medieval manors and 

townships. Scoveston is not recorded until the mid 15th century, while the remainder – 

Jordanston, Norton, Milton, Westfield etc – were not recorded until the 16th- and 17th-

centuries. Some, such as Oxland, are 18th century in origin. Nevertheless, these different 

periods of origin are not reflected in any differing tenurial arrangements, and a 

homogenous pattern of enclosure has resulted. By the time of the first estate maps in the 

late 18th century and the tithe survey in the 1840s the landscape of today had been 

established. There are hints that at least parts of the area had evolved from open field 

systems. For instance, enclosed strip fields are shown on estate maps on the east side of 

Castle Pill and close to the very small village of Burton. No traces of these strips now 

remain. The area has remained primarily agricultural but its military potential has long 

been apparent. Castle Pill was fortified by Royalist forces in 1643, with an 18 gun fort 

garrisoned by 300 men. The massive inland Scoveston Fort was the only defensive work 

to be constructed after the 1860 Royal Commission report on defence proposed a ring of 

forts around the Milford Haven waterway to prevent it from landward attack. Railways also 

crossed the area, to Neyland in 1856 and Milford Haven in 1859. 
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Description and essential historic landscape components 

This very extensive historic landscape character area extends from the town of Milford 

Haven in the west, along the northern shore of the waterway past Neyland and up to and 

past the village of Llangwm. Despite its size it is a remarkably coherent landscape 

consisting of large farms, dispersed houses and large, regular fields. Although it lies close 

to Milford Haven waterway, this area only directly borders the sea at a few locations near 

Burton and Llangwm. Pasture is the dominant land-use, with a little arable land particularly 

in the western part of the area. There is virtually no rough or waste ground. Apart from 

deciduous trees on steep valley sides, such as at Castle Pill and Barnwell Pill, in some 

sheltered hollows, and on the banks of the Milford Haven waterway, this is not a landscape 

characterised by woodland. Occasional trees are also present in some hedgerows. Earth 

banks topped with hedges are the main boundary type. Hedges are generally well-

maintained, although in the northern part of the area some are becoming overgrown and 

a few are derelict. Burton Mountain and Williamston Mountain, once one of the few open 

areas on the Milford Haven waterway is divided into large fields by banks and hedges. 

Apart from Burton village the settlement pattern is one of dispersed farms and houses. 

There are several mansions and large farms within this area, including Jordanston Farm, 

Williamston, East Hook and Studdolph Hall. Some of these houses are of some antiquity, 

such as East Hook, a 17th century and 18th century house next to the ruins of a 16th 

century house, and others indicate the minor gentry origins of the larger farms, such as 

the three storey Georgian house of Jordanston. Some of the larger houses, Castle Hall for 

example, have been demolished. Attached to most of these large houses are ranges of 

stone-built, 19th century, and sometimes earlier, outbuildings, often arranged around a 

courtyard, and sometimes set some distance from the dwelling. The wide range of 

buildings at Castle Hall Farm are a good example of this type. Gardens and parkland 

survive at some of these larger houses. Interspersed across the landscape are smaller 

farms. The houses take a variety of forms, but in the main they date to the 19th century, 

and are stone-built, rendered, slate-roofed, and broadly in the Georgian tradition. Many 

have been modernised. Older farmhouses and modern farmhouses are also present, 

presumably replacements of earlier structures. Old outbuildings are also stone-built, but 

usually of just one or two ranges. Most farms of this size have large ranges of modern 

steel and concrete outbuildings. Dispersed modern houses are present in this area, but 

are not a defining characteristic, apart from west and north of Jordanston. Here mid 20th 

century semi-detached houses in a fairly dense scatter are a distinct feature of the 

landscape. At Burton, the only village within this area, the medieval parish church of St 

Mary together with a cluster of late 18th century and 19th century dwellings is surrounded 

by late 20th century housing, including a small estate. Other buildings include the massive 

remains of Scoveston Fort, an element of the mid 19th century military defence of the 

Milford Haven waterway. Given the large extent of this area it is not surprising that there 

are a large number and variety of archaeological sites. However, these do not greatly 

characterise the landscape. Of interest are: several prehistoric funerary and ritual sites, 

including standing stones, chambered tombs and round barrows, an iron age fort with the 

slight remains of a Civil War fort, several prehistoric find spots, medieval mill and windmill 

sites, and World War 2 defensive features.  

To the south and east the boundary of this area is very well-defined against the Milford 

Haven waterway, the town of Milford Haven, the town of Neyland, an Oil Refinery and a 

large tract of woodland. On other sides this area is very difficult to define, and any 

boundary should be considered a zone of change rather than hard-edged. 

Sources: Burton Parish tithe map 1840; Charles 1992; Jones 1996; Llangwm Parish tithe 

map 1841; Llanstadwell Parish tithe map 1849, Llanstadwell Third Part tithe map 1830; 

Ludlow 2002; NLW PICTON CASTLE VOL 1; NLW R .K. LUCAS NO. 17, 19 & 25; Page 2001; 

Price 1986; Pritchard 1907; PRO D/RKL/1194/4; PRO RKL/841; Rees 1975; Rosemarket 

Parish tithe map 1843; Saunders 1964; Stainton Parish tithe map 1843 

  



314 TEXACO OIL REFINERY AND BP JETTY  

historic landscape character area includes the massive late 20th century industrial 

complex, the old BP oil pumping station located in Fort Popton, a 19th century defensive 

structure, and a short length of sea-cliff top. 

GRID REFERENCE: SM 905030 

AREA IN HECTARES: 237 

Historic Background 

Apart from Fort Popton and a narrow strip of sea cliff/cliff top this entire area comprises 

an oil refinery and oil pumping station. It occupies part of Rhoscrowther parish, which 

represented the medieval Manor of Popton, and the west half of Pwllcrochan parish. This 

comprised half a knight’s fee held directly of the Lordship of Pembroke. It had an annual 

value of 10 marks in 1324 after it had been acquired, from the Popton family, by the 

Perrots who later rose to great prominence in southwest Wales. Eastington, which lies 

south of this area, is a large, semi-fortified hall-house built by the Perrots in the late 14th 

century. The Meares acquired the manor in the 17th century. Prior to the construction of 

oil industry installations the landscape consisted of farms and regularly shaped fields – 

little change had occurred to this agricultural landscape since the early 19th century – with 

a fort situated on the cliff tops. This fort, Fort Popton, was built 1859-64 to act in 

conjunction with Fort Hubberston on the opposite shore of the Milford Haven waterway. It 

comprised a casemated battery of 31 guns and included a defended barracks with 

accommodation for 10 officers and 240 men. It was redesigned in 1900. In 1961, BP 

constructed a jetty below the fort and a pumping installation within and close to the fort 

in order to pump oil to Llandarcy, near Swansea. The pumping station closed in 1985. The 

Field Studies Council now uses part of the fort as a research centre. To the east of the fort 

Texaco constructed an oil refinery in 1963. It opened in 1964. 
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Description and essential historic landscape components 

Most of this historic landscape character area consists of the massive industrial complex 

of the Texaco oil refinery and the decommissioned BP jetty and oil storage tanks, but it 



also includes Fort Popton which was altered to accommodate part of BP’s pumping 

installation, a small amount of farmland, steep wooded coastal slopes below the refinery 

and mooring jetties. It lies on an undulating plateau at approximately 50m above sea level 

on the south side of the Milford Haven waterway. 

This is a distinct historic landscape character area and contrasts with neighbouring 

farmland. 

Sources: Mckay 1993; Pwllchrochan Parish Tithe Map 1840; Rhoscrowther Parish Tithe 

Map 1838; PRO D/ANGLE/5; PRO D/ANGLE/92; PRO HDX/198/2; Saunders 1964; Smith 

1988 

 

 

RHOSCROWTHER 341 

is a large agricultural historic landscape character area typified by large dispersed farms 

with regularly shaped fields. Hedges on banks are the most common boundary type, but 

towards the windswept western part of the area mortared stonewalls are present. There 

is a great variety in domestic building type, ranging in date from the medieval to the 20th 

century. 

GRID REFERENCE: SM 901014 

AREA IN HECTARES: 2017 

Historic Background 

This large character area lies on the south side of the Milford Haven waterway. It lies 

within the parishes of Angle, Hundleton, Pwllcrochan and Rhoscrowther. The landscape 

features a large number of prehistoric elements. The present B4320 is traditionally thought 

to follow the line of a prehistoric trackway, known as ‘The Ridgeway’, that runs along the 

main east-west ridge across south Pembrokeshire. The amount of prehistoric archaeology 

surviving within the immediate environs lends credence to the tradition of this being a 

ancient trackway. Neighbouring this area Kilpaison Burrows dune slacks overlie a well-

known complex of bronze age round barrows, and a neolithic burial chamber, the ‘Devil’s 

Quoit’. Further groups of prominent barrows lie just south of Wallaston Farm, and at the 

Dry Burrows near Hundleton, while Corston Beacon round barrow is still a prominent 

landmark. Straight, north-south field boundaries that characterise much of south 

Pembrokeshire are co-axial upon the east-west Ridgeway and are possibly prehistoric in 

origin. The Ridgeway remains a prominent landscape feature and appears to have formed 

the boundary between the early medieval commotes, of Manorbier – within which this area 

lay - and Coedrath, both in Cantref Penfro. An ecclesiastical centre lay at Rhoscrowther 

itself, which was the site of a ‘Bishop house’, a quasi-collegiate foundation of St Davids. 

Much of the area lay within the later medieval Manor of Castlemartin which was the 

demesne manor of the Lordship of Pembroke, and a castle-guard fee. Rhoscrowther and 

Pwllcrochan appear to have been more loosely tied to the manor and by the later medieval 

period a separate gentry-house had been established in Rhoscrowther parish at 

Eastington. Hundleton parish was created out of part of Monkton parish in the 1840s and 

lay within the borough liberty of Pembroke. Angle, comprising 2 knight’s fees, was held as 

a mesne lordship of Pembroke. Many of the farms in the area began as vills mentioned in 

accounts of the 13th century to the 15th century. Orielton and Kilpaison represented one 

knight’s fee held of Pembroke by Richard Wyryot in 1353, Moreston represented ½ 

knights’s fee held of Pembroke, Rhoscrowther, with the parish church and glebe were also 

held of Pembroke, and Corston, Neath and Wallaston, were members of the Manor of 

Castlemartin from the 13th century onwards. Pwllcrochan parish church was a possession 

of the Benedictines of Monkton Priory, Pembroke. However, there is little evidence for 

open-field farming within the area, but strips were still held collectively within the fields of 

Newton Farm in 1824, and are shown on a map of that year. Windmills appear to have 

formed a prominent feature of the landscape and at least three appear to have occupied 



the area during the medieval or early post-medieval period. The Herbert Earls of Pembroke 

held Castlemartin manor from 1551 until 1598 when it was sold to the Lorts of Stackpole. 

In 1698, Alexander Campbell acquired it through marriage. Many of the farms, and major 

houses such as Bangeston – possibly the site of a moated medieval manor - were in direct 

Campbell ownership. Rhoscrowther and Pwllcrochan had become a holding distinct from 

the Castlemartin estate, the ‘Rosecrowther and Pulcrogan Estate’ which comprises most 

of the central part of this area. In 1824 the estate was sold to Sir John Owen of Orielton, 

an estate that included the easternmost part of this area, and the Mirehouses of Angle 

eventually acquired much of it. The present system of large, irregular fields and dispersed 

settlement, is apparent by 1787, when it is shown on an estate map of that year, as are 

the villages of Rhoscrowther and the hamlet of Pwllcrochan. Both these settlements were 

abandoned as a result of the construction of an oil refinery and power station in 

neighbouring areas in the 1960s. There are also limestone quarries in this area.  

 

Base map reproduced from the OS map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of The Controller of 
Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright 2001. 
All rights reserved. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil 
proceedings. Licence Number: GD272221 

  

Description and essential historic landscape components 

Rhoscrowther is a large historic landscape area that stretches along the southern banks of 

the Milford Haven waterway from Hundleton in the east to the far west of the Castlemartin 

Peninsula. Although it includes the mud, marsh and rocks along the foreshore of the 

waterway, the main bulk of this area comprises an agricultural landscape lying across 

gently undulating hills that rise to 60m to 70m above sea level. Apart from the loosely 

clustered and now abandoned hamlet of Rhoscrowther and the former cluster of dwellings 

at Pwllcrochan there are no villages, and the settlement pattern comprises dispersed farms 

and other dwellings. Rhoscrowther and Pwllcrochan were abandoned during or after the 

construction of the Texaco oil refinery and Pembroke Power Station. There are a large 

number of listed buildings most of them farm buildings. Farms tend towards the large size. 

Stone is the main building material, with houses usually cement rendered and outbuildings 

left bare, and slate the roofing material. Farmhouses date in the main to the 19th century, 

but there is great variety in this area, with more examples in the polite Georgian style 

than in the vernacular tradition. Although the latter tradition is apparent in some of the 

smaller examples, such as the 17th century or 18th century house at Hilton with its 

massive chimney, and the remains of 18th century Bangeston House. Other older 

examples include the late medieval tower house at Eastington with its neighbouring 18th 

century house, and an old 16th or 17th century mansion at Henllan now used as a barn. 



Modern housing is not a strong component of the landscape, but new single dwellings 

constructed close to farms are present. Most farms have substantial ranges of 19th century 

outbuildings, often set in a formal arrangement around a yard, and large collections of 

modern steel, concrete and asbestos agricultural structures. Included in this area are two 

medieval churches, each with a substantial tower, St Decumanus at Rhoscrowther and St 

Mary’s at Pwllcrochan. Land-use is a mixture of improved pasture and arable. There is very 

little rough pasture or under-used farmland apart from pockets of marsh close to the coast. 

Deciduous woodland is common on the steeper valley sides and on the coastal slopes – 

indeed in the latter location it is very prominent – but across the more gently sloping 

farmland it does not constitute a major landscape component. Fields are large. Hedges on 

banks are by far the most common type of boundary, but towards the western part of the 

area mortared walls form a small but significant element. Hedges are generally well 

maintained. Mortared stone cylindrical gateposts are a feature of the landscape, 

particularly towards the area’s western end. Non-agricultural landscape components are 

not numerous, but included small reservoirs, sites of dismantled oil storage tanks and 

telecommunication masts. There are numerous archaeological sites within this area, but 

they are not prominent landscape features and therefore do not form major components 

of the historic landscape. Nevertheless they include: several bronze age burial mounds, 

bronze age standing stones, bronze age burnt mounds, many prehistoric flintworking sites, 

sites of medieval settlements, old cottages and sites of houses at Pwllcrochan, limekilns 

and quarries, and 20th century defensive structures.  

Definition of this area to the north where it borders the waterway or an oil refinery and 

power station is very good. To the east and west definition is less clear, and to the south 

where the character area has yet to be delineated boundary definition is poor, with no 

hard-edged border but rather a wide zone of change.  

Sources: Angle parish tithe map 1842; Hundleton Parish tithe map 1841; Jones 1987; 

Kissock 1993: Lockley 1977; Ludlow 1993; Ludlow 1998; Nash 1986; NLW VOL. 1; NMR 

Cawdor Map Book, 1787; Owen 1918; PRO D/EE/7/338; PRO D/LLC/674; PRO D/ANGLE/5; 

PRO D/ANGLE/92; PRO HDX/198/2; PRO D/BUSH/6142 & 144; Pwllcrochan Parish tithe 

map 1840; Ramsey 1999; Rhoscrowther Parish tithe map; Walker 1950 

  

 

PEMBROKE DOCK 306 

Pembroke Dock historic landscape character area comprises the 19th century naval 

dockyards and the 19th century grid-pattern planned town. Included in this area are many 

19th century worker and town houses, with 20th century housing and light industrial 

development on its outskirts. 

GRID REFERENCE: SM 963034 

AREA IN HECTARES: 455 

Historic Background 

During the medieval period this area, a small peninsula situated in St. Mary’s Parish, 

Pembroke, lay within the Manor of Kingswood with Golden, which was a demesne manor 

of the lordship of Pembroke. Arable land-use is recorded in detailed accounts from the 

14th century and 15th century, with issues from wheat, beans, peas, barley and oats. 

However, meadowland, sheep and wool are also recorded, along with profits from cloth-

processing – two fulling-mills were established during the 15th century. Income was also 

derived from the ferry that crossed the waterway to Burton. This was not replaced by a 

bridge until the later 20th century. During the post-medieval period the area became part 

of the Bush estate. The partial construction of a fort at Paterchurch in 1758 did not alter 

this area’s agricultural aspect, as shown on estate maps of 1772 and 1813, although it 

would seem that as with most inlets on the Haven small-scale ship building was being 

carried out at Bentlass on the Pembroke River and at Pembroke Ferry. The Admiralty’s 



decision to relocate their dockyards from Milford Haven to a new site at Paterchurch in 

1812 marked the beginning of the new town of Pembroke Dock. Growth was rapid. An 

estate map of 1848 titled ‘Town of Pater’ shows the grid pattern of the embryonic town. 

Many of the plots are shown occupied, but many others are awaiting development. Indeed, 

a later hand has annotated the map with the names and types of buildings that were 

subsequently built. The naval dockyards were opened in 1814, extended in 1830-32 and 

again in 1844. In 1832 a stone pier at Hobbs Point was opened and later an Hotel and 

stables for Irish steam packet passengers; this service having been transferred from 

Milford Haven. As part of the overall defence for Milford Haven several large installations 

were constructed within this area in the mid 19th century, including a large ‘star’ fort and 

two gun towers on the foreshore by the dockyards. In 1864, the first train ran from 

Pembroke Dock to Tenby. The line was later extended into the dockyards. Civilian 

shipbuilding yards on Water Street, Front Street and Lower Meyrick Street all operated in 

the 19th century, as well as a substantial yard at Jacob’s Pill on the Pembroke River. This 

last installation was opened in 1874 and closed in 1884, when it was converted to an 

isolation hospital. Late in the 19th century a torpedo stores was established at Pennar 

Point and submarine mining experiments were carried out on the river here. The dockyards 

were one of the world’s most important naval shipbuilding centres, with over 260 ships 

launched in its 112 year life. The development of larger ships, culminating in the 

dreadnought class, signalled the end of the dockyards. The Admiralty was unwilling to 

invest in new facilities, and in 1907 men were laid off. The dockyard was abruptly closed 

in 1926. In 1930, the establishment of a RAF flying-boat base in the eastern part of the 

former dockyard provided some employment until its closure in 1959. During the early 

and mid 20th century other military installations were located in this area including 

barracks, oil and ammunition stores. More recently, a ferry service to Ireland has been 

operating at a new base in the former dockyard. The town of Pembroke Dock expanded in 

conjunction with the military and industrial development, at first close to the dockyards 

and at Pennar, and then, in the 20th century, outside this historic town core. 
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Description and essential historic landscape components 

Pembroke Dock is an urban historic landscape character area. It is centred on the 19th 

century and early 20th century naval dockyards, and smaller private shipbuilding yards. 

The naval dockyards are surrounded by a high defensive wall and flanked by two 19th 

century gun towers. Large parts of the yard are now given over to modern industry, 

including the Irish ferry port, but several large stone buildings in the Georgian tradition 

close to the dock’s entrance provide a strong architectural signature. Several of the original 

docks also survive as do a collection of 20th century military structures, including two 

large hangars built for flying boats. Pembroke fort, originally constructed on an open 

hillside overlooking the dockyards is now surrounded by development. The 19th century 

town is built in a grid pattern, and this, together with the survival of many wide streets of 

contemporaneous houses and other buildings, provides a strong architectural signature. 

The combination of a planned street pattern and high survival rate of contemporaneous 

houses and other buildings provides Pembroke Dock with a coherent historic character 

that is rarely matched in other Welsh town. These 19th century dockyard worker houses 

are generally of two storey terraces, cement rendered, and broadly in the Georgian 

tradition. The social and economic landscape of the town is manifest in details such as the 

larger ‘foreman’ houses that stand at the ends of terraces. Three storey houses on some 

street corners in the commercial centre emphasise the importance of certain road 

intersections. At Pennar over looking the dockyards to the south the grid pattern of wide 

streets is maintained, but here terraces of single-storey cottages provide a very distinctive, 

if not unique, aspect to the town. In all there are 125 listed buildings within the town. 

There is not a great deal of later 19th century and early to mid 20th century housing, but 

later 20th century housing and other buildings testify to intensifying growth in this period. 

Several of the 20th century military installations have been redeveloped into offices and 

light industrial estates; many have been demolished and the land restored. The Cleddau 

Bridge, which replaced a ferry, has rejuvenated the northern side of the town. It is here 

that much of the light industry is located. A golf course lies within this area. 

This historic landscape character area is defined to the west, north and east by the sea. 

On the other side it neighbours farmland. However, it is likely that Pembroke Dock will 

soon merge with Pembroke as only a few fields separate them.  

 

Sources: Carradice 1991; Findley 1875; Jack 1981; Owen 1918; Peters 1905; Price 1986; 

St Mary’s Pembroke Tithe Map 1841; PRO D/BUSH/6/26; PRO D/BUSH/6/27; PRO 

D/BUSH/6/40; 
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